STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Supreme Court County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
—————

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

APR 25 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ROBERT LEE MOORE,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002479

—————
BRIEF OF PETITIONER
—————

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals erred by affirming petitioner's conviction based on an inconsistent "inevitable discovery" analysis where the majority agreed petitioner's constitutional rights were violated where the police searched his cell phone without a warrant, yet found on erroneous and inconsistent basis that the fruits of the warrantless search would have been inevitably discovered since the majority opinions circumvent the integrity of the warrant requirement in violation of Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014)?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for the offense of attempted murder. R. 327. His case came on for trial on July 21, 2014, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly, and a jury. Andrew Johnston represented petitioner. Derrick Balsa was the deputy solicitor. R. 1.

On July 23, 2014, the jury found petitioner guilty. R. 320, l. 25 – 321, l. 6. Judge Kelly sentenced petitioner to thirty years' imprisonment. R. 322, ll. 5-6.

The majority of the Court of Appeals affirmed in State v. Moore, 421 S.C. 167, 805 S.E.2d 585 (2017). Chief Judge Lockemy and Judge Konduros both held that petitioner's constitutional rights were violated by the warrantless search by the police of his cell phone. However, Judge Lockemy, based on a different analysis, agreed with Judge McDonald that the information from the cell phone search would have been inevitably discovered. Therefore, petitioner's attempted murder conviction was affirmed. App. 1-15.

Petitioner and the state sought rehearing. App. 16-30. Rehearing was denied. App. 2. Petitioner now seeks certiorari from this Court.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by affirming petitioner's conviction based on an inconsistent "inevitable discovery" analysis where the majority agreed petitioner's constitutional rights were violated where the police searched his cell phone without a warrant, yet found on erroneous and inconsistent basis that the fruits of the warrantless search would have been inevitably discovered since the majority opinions circumvent the integrity of the warrant requirement in violation of *Riley v. California*, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014)

Relevant facts

Defense counsel Johnston moved to suppress all of the information derived from the search of petitioner's cell phone, "an AT&T flip phone, which is attributed to the ownership of the defendant." Defense counsel told the judge the court would need to hear the testimony from the investigators who recovered it, and the other law enforcement personnel who were involved "in the forensic evaluation of the phone" before ruling. R. 2, ll. 7-19.

Assistant solicitor Balsa told the judge this case involved the shooting of the victim, thirty-four-year-old Travis Hall, on February 25, 2013 at a Taco Bell in Spartanburg. Three cell phones were found surrounding the injured victim in his car. Since money and drugs were also found in the vehicle, the police suspected a drug deal gone bad, or a drug deal that was actually the result of a planned robbery that went awry. R. 3, l. 8 – 6, l. 11. Defense counsel cited *Riley v. California*, 134 S.Ct. 2473 (2014) in support of his motion to suppress the cell phone evidence. R. 6, l. 13 – 7, l. 15.

Balsa argued that the police discovered the cell phones, and thought they had a potential suspect. The police later got a search warrant after making "preliminary productive discoveries" from the warrantless search of the phone. However, Balsa maintained a search warrant for the

contents of the cell phone was never required because it had been “abandoned by the defendant.” R. 7, l. 16 – 9, l. 6.

Defense counsel Johnston confirmed that petitioner was claiming a privacy interest and an expectation of privacy in his cell phone. Johnston strongly disagreed with the assertion that petitioner had “abandoned” his cell phone. Johnston argued there was a major difference between forgetting one’s phone or negligently leaving it behind, and abandoning it, even though the state had the burden of proof, as will be seen infra, the state was unable to state whether the cell phone had a secure password on it that law enforcement was able to get beyond, or whether the forensically “pulled” information was obtained in a less onerous manner. R. 8, l. 2 – 9, l. 14.

Suppression hearing

Investigator Lindsey McGraw testified that three cell phones were collected from the scene of the February 25, 2013 shooting at the Taco Bell in Spartanburg. “I was asked to perform a forensic examination of three cellular telephones that were found at the scene primarily to determine who owned the cell, the cell phones to determine ownership.” McGraw identified the phones as an Apple I-phone 3, an Apple I-phone 4, and a ZTE331 flip phone. R. 10, ll. 8-25.

The flip phone was the one at issue here. McGraw did a forensic examination of “**the installed SIM card.**” The card contained the call logs stored contacts “things of that nature.” R. 10, l. 22 – 11, l. 12. (emphasis added). McGraw was able to recover the cell phone number assigned to the phone from his forensic investigation. He then asked other investigators to find out whom the person was that had that phone number. R. 12, l. 2 – 13, l. 3.

McGraw testified he was able to determine the cell phone number did not belong to the victim. Before he obtained a search warrant, McGraw said he found out the telephone number was

864-494-2573. He also recovered thirty-four contact entries, and he discovered three text messages on the cell phone. R. 12, l. 2 – 13, l. 3.

McGraw testified the stored contact information allowed him to associate a name – petitioner -- with a phone number. McGraw said after he obtained this information, the police got a search warrant and “I did a full forensic examination of the phone, processed it.” McGraw maintained he was unable to further recover contacts and images and pictures from the phone. R. 12, l. 2 – 15, l. 9.

On cross-examination, McGraw confirmed he got the phone number for the cell phone *before* the police obtained a search warrant. He said the cell phone could send and receive text messages, and that typically the phone would have a contact name, phone number and “possibly their physical address and email address.” McGraw testified that the cell phone had a camera for photographs, and a record of all telephone calls made and received. R. 16, l. 1 – 17, l. 21.

McGraw said that the search warrant was obtained the day after he initially searched the phone without a warrant. R. 17, l. 4 – 18, l. 20. The search warrant affidavit stated:

On 2/25/2013 at approx. 14:13 Hrs. Deputies with the Spartanburg County Sherriff's Office responded to 760 Warren H. Abernathy Hwy. in reference to a shooting. Upon arrival, they found the Victim, Travis Hall had been shot. Hall was transported to SRMC. Through further investigation and the processing of the Victim's vehicle an AT&T ZTE model Z331 cell phone serial number #22213371843 was found inside the victim's vehicle. **Through further investigation it was found the phone number assigned to the phone is (864) 494-2573. Through further investigation it was found this phone did not belong to the Victim. Through further investigation it was found this phone belonged to Robert Lee Moore. This search warrant is needed for the furtherance of this investigation to obtain information from the phone that can either implicate, or clear Robert Lee Moore from any involvement in this incident.**

R. 324; State v. Moore, 421 S.C. 167, 179, 805 S.E.2d 585, 592 (2017). (emphasis added).

This was the search warrant affidavit that the police used to obtain the warrant. The Court of Appeals found it was a sufficiently detailed affidavit, that it was not conclusory, and that it established probable cause for a complete search of petitioner's cell phone. Petitioner maintains, however, *infra*, that it was improper for one of the affirming Judge's to reason that if the highlighted objectionable language was deleted (based on the initial search of the cell phone) that the evidence would have been inevitably discovered because the search warrant affidavit would have passed "probable cause" muster for a search warrant to be issued anyway.

Detective Tom Clark was the state's next witness at the suppression hearing. Clark testified he was originally contacted by Investigator Williams because multiple (three) cell phones had been found in the vehicle, and Clark said the police determined that the victim himself had multiple cell phones. R. 19, l. 6 – 20, l. 16.

Clark confirmed that he was not the person who conducted the forensic examination on the telephone before a search warrant was obtained. He correctly said he assumed investigator Williams was the person who did the warrantless forensic examination. R. 20, l. 24 – 21, l. 18. Clark then read into the record his affidavit to obtain the search warrant.

Q. Tell me what you told Judge Willingham.

A. Told Judge Willingham that on February the 25th at approximately 14:30 hours deputy responded to the Spartanburg County – well, excuse me. With the Spartanburg County Sheriff's Office responded to 7680 Warren H. Abernathy Highway in reference to a shooting. Upon arrival they found the victim, Travis Hall, had been shot. Travis Hall was transported to Spartanburg Regional Medical Center.

Through further investigation and processing of the, processing of the vehicle, the victims AT&T ZTE model 7331 cell phone with serial number 322213371843 was found inside the vehicle. Through further investigation it was found that this phone number **assigned to this phone was**

864-494-2573. Through further investigation it was found that this phone *did not belong to the victim. Through further investigation it was found that this phone belonged to Robert Lee Moore, that a search warrant is needed for the furtherance of this investigation to obtain information from the phone that can either implicate or clear Robert Lee Moore from any involvement in this incident.*

R. 21, l. 19 – 22, l. 13. (emphasis added).

Judge Willingham did not have any other information to base his decision about the search warrant on other than that above. R. 22, ll. 14-19. Clark also confirmed that the police used the information from the warrantless search of the cell phone to obtain the search warrant. R. 23, ll. 3-19.

Clark agreed there was **not anything** in the search warrant affidavit which stated why the police thought petitioner may or may not “have shot the victim.” R. 23, l. 20 – 24, l. 4. Clark also said he was only told that the cell phone was found “in the vehicle under or near the victim and **that was all the information that I was given** other than the victim, according to the investigation, had several cell phones.” R. 24, ll. 10-17. (emphasis added).

On re-cross examination, Clark said he did not recall what he told the judge about **how the police knew** that cell phone was owned by petitioner. He confirmed that the affidavit also did not provide even that most basic information to the magistrate. R. 25, l. 12 – 26, l. 3.

Investigator Lorine Williams was the lead investigator on this case. R. 26, ll. 6-19. Williams confirmed that several cell phones were found in the victim’s automobile. The wounded victim had been removed from the scene by the time he arrived at the Taco Bell and observed the two cell phones in the car. Williams said the third cell phone seized was not in plain view. Two of the cell phones “are in the driver compartment floorboard closer to the door.” R. 27, l. 3 – 28, l. 1.

Williams testified -- and apparently found significance in the fact -- that no one at the scene was claiming ownership of any of the cell phones. Williams said that although he did not have any documentation, he seemed to remember that McGraw had told them that "he had gotten a phone number from the flip phone I believe it was. That number was run through our data system at the sheriff's office. It was associated to Mr. Moore through that system as a "known phone number that he had used or given either in a previous incident or when he was booked in at the jail or something of that nature. It was associated to him. At that point we realized the phone did not belong to the victim. Therefore, the exam was stopped in order to obtain a search warrant before any further forensic testing was done on the phone." R. 28, l. 23 – 29, l. 14.

Williams said he could not testify whether or not the cell phone was "password protected," and he added that Investigator McGraw's report was no help on the password protected subject either. R. 29, l. 21 – 30, l. 1.

As for "abandonment", Williams confirmed he had never seen petitioner in possession of the cell phone nor had he seen petitioner relinquish possession of the phone. Williams said he had chased suspects in the past who had discarded items during the chase. R. 30, ll. 2-17. Williams said he had never seen petitioner throw the phone down or throw it away. "I never saw Mr. Moore at the scene." Williams said he did not know why petitioner left his cell phone but he opined it was apparent there had been a struggle at the Taco Bell scene, and he said **he was sure the cell phone was left behind by mistake.** R. 30, l. 1 – 32, l. 15.

Another law enforcement officer, Forensic agent Robert Talanges, would take issue with the statement that it was apparent there had been a struggle inside the car. "I can't say there was a struggle." R. 101, ll. 9-17. Williams confirmed that he was aware of other situations where a person may have forgotten or misplaced their cell phone. R. 32, l. 18 – 33, l. 3.

Argument of counsel

Defense counsel Johnston again argued pursuant to Riley v. California that the fruits of the search of the cell phone had to be suppressed. Johnston distinguished State v. DuPree, 319 S.C. 454, 462 S.E.2d 279 (1995) where the defendant had abandoned his property for Fourth Amendment purposes by throwing the crack cocaine to the floor during the search of his mouth. Johnston reminded the judge that “Detective Williams summed it up very nicely when he said I have no doubt that he [petitioner] *forgot it* and left it behind.” Johnston argued unintentionally forgetting or leaving behind a cell phone did not mean that it was abandoned. R. 33, l. 24 – 35, l. 9.

Johnston added there was a large amount of money and drugs were found in the victim’s car, and this was not a situation where a person would have voluntarily abandoned his cell phone. Johnston argued there was nothing in the search warrant or affidavit to indicate petitioner had anything to do with the shooting, the warrant was conclusory, and it did not provide probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant. Johnston noted the search warrant went so far as to state the search of the cell phone may actually “clear” petitioner. R. 37, l. 4 – 38, l. 11. (Petitioner argued this issue in the Court of Appeals. It is presently subsumed in the argument before this Court that a majority of the Court of Appeal’s opinion constituted an incorrect and inconsistent “inevitable discovery” holding.)

Johnston argued Riley v. California was on point about the extraordinarily large amount of private information that was stored on an individual’s cell phone. The cell phones provided “potentially all of the person’s associates, their addresses, their telephone numbers, email addresses, anything else a person might decide to include with their contact information.” The cell phones also contained photographs and other personal data. R. 37, l. 4 – 38, l. 11.

Defense counsel repeated that the cell phone had not been abandoned, and that there was no evidence of a clear intention to abandon the phone. Counsel argued that all the information obtained from the cell phone before and after the search warrant had to be suppressed. R. 38, ll. 12-25.

The solicitor said he had not anticipated the argument that the phone was mistakenly left behind rather than abandoned. The solicitor insisted the search was reasonable, and that the phone had been abandoned regardless. The solicitor also argued that the Riley v. California did not prevent the judge from ruling the telephone had simply been abandoned, and that petitioner had no expectation of privacy in the cell phone once it “was left behind.” R. 39, l. 2 – 41, l. 3.

Defense counsel in his colloquy with the court said that the victim was apparently known to carry two cell phones but that three phones were found. Johnston also argued that even if the police thought the phone belonged to the victim they would still have needed to obtain a search warrant to obtain the victim’s information since it was known these cell phones contain private communications, and information that is inculpatory. For that reason, a search warrant was required for the personal information on the cell phone. R. 43, l. 4 – 44, l. 23. The judge deferred ruling. R. 44, ll. 22 -23.

Ruling

Following jury selection, the judge denied petitioner’s motion to suppress any and all of the information seized from petitioner’s cell phone. R. 51, ll. 9-14. The judge ruled that petitioner’s cell phone was “abandoned property.” The judge said he had read cases that property can “be abandoned even momentarily.” The judge reasoned the “property” had been abandoned. The judge ruled he would not suppress any information derived from the search of the cell phone, and

accepted, that an alleged “benign” reason to search a cell phone was permissible. R. 51, l. 9 – 52, l. 24.

Defense counsel quickly tried to correct the judge about the prejudice of the information that law enforcement intended to use from the search of petitioner’s cell phone. Counsel correctly predicted the state was going to show a record of phone calls between petitioner and the victim’s phone that were in close proximity to the crime. He requested that the judge reconsider his ruling. The judge said he was not changing his ruling: “I have wrestled with that a little bit, Mr. Johnston.” The judge and Johnston had a further discussion of Riley v. California, and Johnston argued that the holding in Riley v. California did not “hang on whether or not the person had been arrested.” R. 53, l. – 54, l. 11. The judge refused to alter his ruling denying suppression.

Trial evidence

The state’s first witness was the victim’s mother, Deborah Hall. Her son, Travis Hall, was thirty-four years old when he was shot on February 25, 2013 at the Taco Bell. R. 58, l. 18 – 59, l. 23.

Ms. Hall testified her son came by her house for twenty to twenty-five minutes prior to the incident, and “he kept receiving several phone calls *from the same person.*” (emphasis added). Ms. Hall said she overheard her son talking about picking up his daughter near Highway 29. Highway 29 was near the Taco Bell. Ms. Hall said the next thing she heard from her son was when “I got a phone call that he had got shot in the head from the sheriff’s department.” R. 59, l. 15 – 61, l. 24.

Ms. Hall testified her son spent a couple of months in the hospital after the shooting. R. 61, l. 7 – 63, l. 20. Ms. Hall then identified photographs showing the damage to her son’s Impala. R. 64, l. 1 – 65, l. 21.

Deputy John Hudson to the crime scene off Highway 29 at the Taco Bell. He remembered several people standing around the victim's automobile. R. 68, l. 2 – 70, l. 16.

Hudson recalled the victim had been shot, and he was leaning out of the vehicle "and the seatbelt was supporting his weight." Hudson opined the victim was attempting to get out of the front driver's seat, but the seatbelt was holding him inside. R. 73, l. 5 – 75, l. 16.

Tim Tullock worked for an air conditioning and refrigeration company. He was at the Taco Bell on the day of the shooting, February 25, 2013. R. 80, l. 22 – 82, l. 4.

Tullock was doing paperwork in his van when he heard "some popping sounds." He saw a man "hanging out of the car," and proceeded to walk across the parking lot "to see if he could help him out." Tullock remembered that a "white Chrysler 300 with some rather large rims tore out" of the parking lot "squealing its tires at the same time." R. 82, l. 23 – 84, l. 21.

Marilyn Arthur was a fingerprint identification expert. She testified that Tevin Thomas, a future state's witness, left behind ten fingerprints on the victim's automobile. R. 117, l. 17 – 119, l. 18. None of petitioner's fingerprints were found on the victim's automobile. R. 127, ll. 9-14.

Tevin Thomas' fingerprints were also located on the white Chrysler that Tullock apparently identified as the car quickly leaving the Taco Bell parking lot. Petitioner's fingerprints were found on the Chrysler as well. R. 129, l. 12 – 130, l. 11.

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