ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal From Spartanburg County
Hon. R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2017-002479

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Robert Lee Moore,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar Number 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal From Spartanburg County

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court properly refused to suppress evidence found during the search of a cell phone Appellant abandoned at the scene of the crime. The search was not an unreasonable search in violation of the Fourth Amendment. Additionally, Appellant relinquished any expectation of privacy in the phone by abandoning it inside the victim's vehicle and failing to make any effort to retrieve the phone. Even if the search was in violation of the Fourth Amendment, the evidence should not have been suppressed because it would have inevitably been discovered either through the victim's cell phone records or through the subsequently obtained search warrant.**

The trial court correctly denied the motion to suppress because there was no violation of the Fourth Amendment. First, the search was entirely reasonable because the officers were merely attempting to locate the owner of property found at a crime scene. Second, the property was abandoned and Appellant no longer retained an expectation of privacy in the property so the officers did not need a warrant to examine the cell phone for its phone number. Third, the only information obtained through the search and presented at trial was the ownership of the phone and this information would have been easily obtained through the independent source of the victim's phone as well as inevitably discovered pursuant to a valid search warrant. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the decision of the circuit court denying the motion to suppress and affirm Appellant's conviction and sentence.²

“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against **unreasonable** searches and seizures, shall not be violated. . . .” U.S. Const. amend. IV (emphasis added). This guarantee protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. “The touchstone of

² Initially, it is important to note this Court held oral argument in State v. Lamar Brown on March 28, 2018. Appellate Case Number 2015-002360. The issue in Brown is remarkably similar to the issue in the instant case and this Court's holding in Brown is likely to significantly impact the holding in this case even if it is not determinative of the outcome of this case.

the Fourth Amendment is **reasonableness.**” Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991) (emphasis added).

When moving to suppress evidence on the basis of an alleged unreasonable search, the defendant has the burden of showing a legitimate expectation of privacy in the area searched. See United States v. Rusher, 966 F.2d 868 (4th Cir. 1992); see also Rawlings v. Kentucky, 448 U.S. 98 (1980) (declaring a legitimate expectation of privacy is necessary to trigger Fourth Amendment protections); State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987) (stating defendant who seeks to suppress evidence on Fourth Amendment grounds must demonstrate his “own rights” have been violated by showing he has a legitimate expectation of privacy in connection with the searched premises in order to challenge the search). “Since Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 88 S.Ct. 507, 19 L.Ed.2d 576 (1967), the touchstone of [Fourth] Amendment analysis has been the question whether a person has a ‘constitutionally protected reasonable expectation of privacy.’” Oliver v. United States, 466 U.S. 170, 177 (1984) (quoting Katz, 389 U.S. at 360 (Harlan, J., concurring)).

Thus,

in order to claim the protection of the Fourth Amendment, a defendant must demonstrate that he personally has an expectation of privacy in the place searched, and that his expectation is reasonable; i.e., one that has “a source outside of the Fourth Amendment, either by reference to concepts of real or personal property law or to understandings that are recognized and permitted by society.”

Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 88 (1998) (quoting Rakas v. Illinois, 439 U.S. 128, 143–44 n. 12 (1978)).

Reasonable Search

Initially, the search of the phone's SIM card to determine ownership of the phone was entirely reasonable and not a violation of the Fourth Amendment. In Riley v. California, the United States Supreme Court reiterated: "As the text makes clear, 'the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is 'reasonableness.' " Riley v. California, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2482 (2014) (citing Brigham City v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398, 403, 126 S.Ct. 1943, 164 L.Ed.2d 650 (2006)). The Court explained: "Our cases have determined that '[w]here a search is undertaken by law enforcement officials to **discover evidence of criminal wrongdoing**, . . . reasonableness **generally** requires the obtaining of a judicial warrant.'" Id. (emphasis added) (citing Vernonia School Dist. 47J v. Acton, 515 U.S. 646, 653, 115 S.Ct. 2386, 132 L.Ed.2d 564 (1995)). As the Court in Acton explained: "But a **warrant is not required to establish the reasonableness of all government searches**; and when a warrant is not required (and the Warrant Clause therefore not applicable), probable cause is not invariably required either." Acton, 515 U.S. at 653 (emphasis added).

"When containers have been turned over to the police, an officer 'may validly search lost property to the extent necessary for identification purposes.'" United States v. Wilson, 984 F. Supp. 2d 676, 683 (E.D. Ky. 2013) (quoting State v. Ching, 678 P.2d 1088, 1093 (Haw. 1984)). In Wilson, officers searched a suitcase containing the personal effects and electronics of the defendant in order to identify ownership. Id. at 681. The district court found officers acted reasonably in searching a suitcase for identification of the owner when the suitcase was found in the woods and turned over to them. Id. at 683.

Very recently, the Ohio Supreme Court considered the reasonableness of searching unattended book bags on a school bus. The Court found even if someone retained an expectation

of privacy in a lost item, that expectation was “diminished to the extent that the finder may examine the contents of that item as necessary to determine the rightful owner.” State v. Polk, 78 N.E.3d 834, 843 (Ohio 2017) (citing State v. Hamilton, 2003 MT 71, 314 Mont. 507, 67 P.3d 871; accord Ching at 110, 678 P.2d 1088; State v. Kealey, 80 Wash. App. 162, 173, 907 P.2d 319 (1995)); see also, U.S. v. Sumlin, 909 F.2d 1218, 1220 (8th Cir.1990) (holding officer’s search of defendant’s stolen property for the purpose of identifying ownership was a “legitimate governmental interest” that outweighed defendant’s reasonable expectation of privacy in that property); Chrispen v. Sec’y, Florida Dep’t of Corr., 246 F. App’x 599, 602 (11th Cir. 2007) (finding either briefcase left on trunk of third-party’s automobile was abandoned or the search by officers of the briefcase “constituted a reasonable inventory-like administrative search conducted for the purpose of identifying the seemingly abandoned briefcase’s owner”); Wayne R. LaFave, 3 Search & Seizure § 5.5(d) (5th ed.) (2016 Supp.) (“Similarly, there is authority that police may inventory effects which they find apparently abandoned or which are turned over to them by persons who found them or who by mistake took or received possession of them. Even if such full inventory authority is not granted, courts recognize a police obligation to undertake to find the owner of property they find or which a finder turns over to them, and on this basis an examination of contents is permissible but only to the extent needed to discover the owner’s identification.”) (footnotes omitted).

As the California Court of Appeals, First District, explained in an analogous situation in which the Court found no Fourth Amendment violation in searching a jacket for identification:

An individual who places a jacket at an empty table in a restaurant must reasonably expect that the coat will be touched or handled by either an employee or by a member of the public who wishes to clean up or sit at the table. Indeed, an individual who leaves behind an article of clothing at a public place most likely hopes that some

Good Samaritan will pick up the garment and search for identification in order to return it to the rightful owner.

People v. Juan, 175 Cal. App. 3d 1064, 1069, 221 Cal. Rptr. 338 (Ct. App. 1985). The same consideration would apply to a cell phone left behind in someone's vehicle.

Investigator McGraw did not initially examine the contents of the phone such as text messages and call logs. Instead, he examined the SIM card and obtained merely a phone number for the phone to determine ownership. (T.19-20; R. 11-12). The phone number was then run through an internal Sheriff's Department database to determine if it belonged to the victim or someone else—a process which was entirely reasonable given the phone was found in the victim's car. (T.20; 37; R. 12; 29). This process would have been required in order to even verify whether the phone belonged to the victim, who was known to have multiple phones. (T.27; R.19). The fact the phone number connected to Appellant and not the victim does not alter the reasonableness of the initial intrusion into the phone. The mere obtaining of the cell phone number from the SIM card in order to verify whether the phone belonged to the owner of the vehicle in which it was found did not implicate the Fourth Amendment because it was not an unreasonable search, nor one requiring a warrant.

Investigator McGraw indicated his sole intention was to determine ownership of the phone and set about in the least intrusive means of establishing ownership by trying to find contacts which would lead him to the owner's information. (T.10; R.18). It is difficult to imagine how police would obtain owner information from an unidentified cell phone in a less intrusive way than what occurred here. Most phones do not have their numbers emblazoned across the front of the phone; therefore, some investigation was necessary to determine the identity of the owner. Finding the identity of the owner of a lost item, whether a wallet, a briefcase, or a cell phone should be a reasonable endeavor by law enforcement. Anyone that has lost an item would

hope that a Good Samaritan or law enforcement would undertake to find its rightful owner so that it can be returned. The determination of whether the search is reasonable should not be different because the person who lost the item is a criminal hoping not to be found instead of an average citizen hoping for the return of the lost item. The investigation undertaken by Investigator McGraw was entirely reasonable and not in violation of the Fourth Amendment.

Abandonment

Additionally, the phone in the instant case was abandoned and so Appellant did not retain any expectation of privacy in the phone. Consistent with Katz, the United States Supreme Court has uniformly held that the application of the Fourth Amendment depends on whether the person invoking its protection can claim a reasonable expectation of privacy that has been invaded by government action. U.S. v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276 (1983), citing Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735 (1979). The reasonable expectation of privacy inquiry involves two discrete questions: First, whether the individual, by his conduct, has “exhibited an actual (subjective) expectation of privacy.” Knotts at 281 (citations omitted). Second, whether the individual’s expectation, viewed objectively, is one society is prepared to recognize as reasonable under the circumstances. Id.

It is the “basic rule that ‘searches conducted outside the judicial process, without prior approval by judge or magistrate, are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment—subject only to a few specifically established and well-delineated exceptions.’” Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 338 (2009) (quoting Katz, 389 U.S. at 357). As this Court has explained:

The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment. “Exclusion is ‘not a personal constitutional

right,' nor is it designed to 'redress the injury' occasioned by an unconstitutional search.' ” “The rule’s sole purpose, [the Supreme Court] has repeatedly held, is to deter future Fourth Amendment violations.” Because “[e]xclusion exacts a heavy toll on both the judicial system and society at large,” the Court has stated “the deterrence benefits of suppression must outweigh its heavy costs” for the exclusion to be deemed appropriate.

State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 88–89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) (citing and quoting Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229 (2011)).

However, because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is “reasonableness,” the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 210, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009). This Court has “recognized the doctrine of abandonment as an exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement.” State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 457, 462 S.E.2d 279, 281 (1995) (citing Fernandez v. State, 306 S.C. 264, 411 S.E.2d 426 (1991)).

“Abandoned property has no protection from either the search or seizure provisions of the Fourth Amendment.” State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 457, 462 S.E.2d 279, 281 (1995) (citing California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35 (1988)). “When a person voluntarily abandons his privacy interest in property, his subjective expectation of privacy becomes unreasonable, and he is precluded from seeking to suppress evidence seized from it.” United States v. Stevenson, 396 F.3d 538, 546 (4th Cir. 2005) (citing United States v. Leshuk, 65 F.3d 1105, 1111 (4th Cir.1995)); see also Abel v. United States, 362 U.S. 217, 241 (1960) (“There can be nothing unlawful in the Government’s appropriation of ... abandoned property”). “Abandonment is an ultimate fact or conclusion based generally upon a combination of act and intent.” Friedman v. United States, 347 F.2d 697, 704 (8th Cir.1965). “Intent may be inferred from words spoken, acts done, and other objective facts, and all the relevant circumstances at the time of the alleged abandonment should be considered.” United States v. Hoey, 983 F.2d 890, 892 (8th Cir. 1993).

“Abandonment is primarily a question of intent, and intent may be inferred from words spoken, acts done, and other objective facts. All relevant circumstances existing at the time of the alleged abandonment should be considered.” United States v. Colbert, 474 F.2d 174, 176 (5th Cir. 1973).

“[T]he proper test for abandonment is not whether all formal property rights have been relinquished, but whether the complaining party retains a reasonable expectation of privacy in the [property] alleged to be abandoned.” United States v. Haynie, 637 F.2d 227, 237 (4th Cir.1980) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). This Court thoroughly explained the determination of abandoned property, indicating a very clear distinction between abandoned property in a property-law sense and abandoned property in a Fourth Amendment sense:

The distinction between abandonment in the property-law sense and abandonment in the constitutional sense is critical to a proper analysis of the issue. In the law of property, the question . . . is whether owner has voluntarily, intentionally, and unconditionally relinquished his interest in the property so that another, having acquired possession, may successfully assert his superior interest.... In the law of search and seizure, however, the question is whether the defendant has, in discarding the property, relinquished his reasonable expectation of privacy so that its seizure and search is reasonable within the limits of the Fourth Amendment. In essence, what is abandoned is not necessarily the defendant's property, but his reasonable expectation of privacy therein.

Where the presence of the police is lawful and the discard occurs in a public place where the defendant cannot reasonably have any continued expectancy of privacy in the discarded property, the property will be deemed abandoned for the purpose of search and seizure.

Dupree, 319 S.C. at 457, 462 S.E.2d at 281 (quoting City of St. Paul v. Vaughn, 237 N.W.2d 365, 370–71 (1975)). This Court also made it clear: “Even though Dupree abandoned the drugs in response to police action, when the actions of the police are lawful the abandoned property is not protected by the Fourth Amendment.” Dupree, 319 S.C. at 460, 462 S.E.2d at 283.

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